MARIA CANTWELL, WASHINGTON, CHAIR

AMY KLOBUCHAR, MINNESOTA TED CRUZ, TEXAS
BRIAN SCHATZ, HAWAII JOHN THUNE, SOUTH DAKOTA
EDWARD MARKEY, MASSACHUSETTS ROGER WICKER, MISSISSIPPI

GARY PETERS, MICHIGAN DEB FISCHER, NEBRASKA ( -
TAMMY BALDWIN, WISCONSIN JERRY MORAN, KANSAS M |5 ( /
TAMMY DUCKWORTH, ILLINOIS DAN SULLIVAN, ALASKA 7

/

JON TESTER, MONTANA MARSHA BLACKBURN, TENNESSEE

KYRSTEN SINEMA, ARIZONA TODD YOUNG, INDIANA
JACKY ROSEN, NEVADA TED BUDD, NORTH CAROLINA COMMITTEE ON COMMERCE, SCIENCE,
BEN RAY LUJAN, NEW MEXICO ERIC SCHMITT, MISSOURI AND TRANSPORTATION
JOHN HICKENLOOPER, COLORADO J.D. VANCE, OHIO
RAPHAEL WARNOCK, GEORGIA SHELLEY MOORE CAPITO, WEST VIRGINIA
PETER WELCH, VERMONT CYNTHIA LUMMIS, WYOMING WASHINGTON, DC 20510-6125
LILA HELMS, MAJORITY STAFF DIRECTOR WEBSITE: https://commerce.senate.gov
BRAD GRANTZ, REPUBLICAN STAFF DIRECTOR
October 6, 2023

The Honorable Pete Buttigieg
Secretary of Transportation
1200 New Jersey Avenue SE
Washington, DC 20590

Dear Secretary Buttigieg:

We write to follow up on letters to the Department of Transportation (DOT) earlier this
year. In February, Senators Cruz, Thune, and Fischer sent a letter (“the February letter”) asking
the administrators of the Federal Railroad Administration (FRA) and the Federal Transit
Administration (FTA) about those agencies’ support and oversight of the Amtrak-New York-
New Jersey Gateway Program (“the Gateway Program”).! In April, Republican senators of the
Committee on Commerce, Science, and Transportation wrote asking you to amend funding
notices for a major rail grant program that had been drafted to unfairly favor the Northeast and
the Gateway Program to the detriment of projects elsewhere in the country (“the April letter”).?

You did not respond to the April letter, instead tasking the FRA administrator to respond.
Moreover, the agency’s responses failed to either fully answer the questions posed or commit to
improving DOT’s approach. DOT’s lack of transparency with Congress and potential
misadministration of grant programs, particularly with respect to the billions of dollars in DOT
funding for the Gateway Program, are deeply concerning. We request that you rectify the
inadequate responses to our past letters by personally answering this letter and including (1) a
description of how DOT will use its authorities to provide oversight and (2) the commitments
that we have requested or an explanation why you are refusing to make those commitments.

In February 2022, Amtrak’s Office of Inspector General (OIG) released a report finding
that Amtrak lacked a comprehensive framework to manage its commitments to the Gateway
Program.> Among other concerns, Amtrak lacked an integrated master schedule; a program
management plan; and mechanisms to collect and provide information regarding the program’s
status, including its budget and schedule. The report indicated a risk to Amtrak’s ability to “meet
its commitments in scope, on time, and in budget,” warning that “assessments of prior complex

I Feb. 7, 2023 Letters from Senators Thune, Fischer, and Cruz to FRA Adm’r Bose and FTA Adm’r Fernandez.
2 Apr. 19, 2023 Letter from Senator Cruz et al. to Secretary Buttigieg.

3 Governance: Company Needs a Comprehensive Framework to Successfully Manage its Commitments to the
Gateway Program, Amtrak OIG (Feb. 4, 2022), https://amtrakoig.gov/sites/default/files/reports/OIG-A-2022-
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construction and acquisition programs found that when [Amtrak] did not put this framework in
place early enough, it experienced cost increases, schedule delays, and stress on its partner
relationships as projects matured.”*

DOT has awarded more than $8 billion in federal funding to the Gateway Program,
despite the Amtrak OIG’s serious concerns about potential cost overruns and schedule delays.
Based on the latest estimates from the Gateway Development Commission, the nine projects that
comprise the Gateway Program will cost $37 billion over the next 15 years.” Grants that DOT
has awarded to the Gateway Program include an unprecedent single grant of nearly $7 billion for
the Hudson Tunnel project via a Capital Investment Grant (“CIG”),® as well as:

e $91.5 million via a Federal-State Partnership for Intercity Passenger Rail (“Fed-State™)
grant for the Portal North Bridge and Substation 41, awarded May 2020;’

e $766.5 million via a CIG for the Portal North Bridge, awarded January 2021;®

e $45 million via a Fed-State grant for the Sawtooth Bridges, awarded August 2022;°

e $292 million via a National Infrastructure Project Assistance (Mega) grant for the Hudson
Tunnel, awarded January 2023;'° and

e $25 million via a Local and Regional Project Assistance (RAISE) grant for the Tonnelle
Avenue bridge and utility work (for the Hudson Tunnel), awarded June 2023.'!

In this period of historically high inflation, it is especially important that you be judicious
with taxpayer dollars and resist political pressure to simply cut checks to this or any other
project. Both the law and simple prudence demand a real evaluation of the huge cost estimates
and verification that Gateway Program grantees have the capacity to deliver the planned
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infrastructure timely and on budget. The February letter inquired about the Gateway Program’s
budget and readiness, but DOT failed to respond meaningfully. For example, FRA stated it
would employ a “risk-based approach to provide targeted engagement” with Amtrak, without
indicating what aspects of the Gateway Program, if any, would get independent review. !
Awarding billions of taxpayer dollars to projects that Amtrak and other grantees may not be
capable of delivering is financially irresponsible—opening the door to fraud, waste, and abuse.

This recent string of awards reflects what appears to be a troubling effort to prioritize the
Gateway Program above deserving projects elsewhere in the country.!® Indeed, your Department
seems to be maximizing the funding for the Gateway Program in many grant programs, whether
a good fit or not. As pointed out in the April letter, DOT and FRA manipulated the massive Fed-
State grant program to ensure the absolute maximum amount of funding from the 2021
infrastructure law will go to the Northeast (and Gateway), effectively depriving projects from the
rest of the country of the opportunity to compete for as much as $7 billion under that program.

In his response, FRA Administrator Amit Bose refused to correct this.

In another example of favoritism, DOT awarded a $25 million RAISE grant for the
Tonnelle Avenue bridge, a component project of the Gateway Program.!'* This was the
maximum amount allowed for RAISE grants. In fiscal year 2023, DOT received approximately
1,100 eligible local and regional project assistance grant applications requesting almost $15
billion in grant funding, far more than the $2.26 billion available.!> Given this context and the
zero-sum nature of the grant funding available, every dollar awarded to one project is a dollar not
awarded to others. As DOT acknowledges, the RAISE program is intended to address the
infrastructure needs of smaller communities that might not compete as effectively as large
projects and “otherwise cannot turn to the Federal government for support.”'® Yet DOT appears
not to have applied that requirement to the Gateway Program, considering the projects received
over $8 billion in other grants from DOT.!”

To assist us in evaluating the Department’s handling of taxpayer dollars and compliance
with the law, please personally provide your detailed, written responses to the following
questions within 30 days:

1. When and how did FTA and DOT determine to award the Hudson Tunnel project $6.88
billion in CIG funding? Please provide documents sufficient to show who made the
determination, including documents and communications by the White House and the
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Office of the Secretary of Transportation referring or relating to CIG funding for the
Hudson Tunnel project since January 20, 2021.

. How did a component of the Gateway Program, which received the nearly $7 billion CIG
in early July 2023, receive a RAISE grant award for projects that “otherwise cannot turn
to the federal government” just over a week earlier, when hundreds of other applicants
were denied?

Is the Gateway program primarily a project of local or regional significance?

. Have you or anyone else at DOT approved but not yet announced any other award or
funding to the Gateway Program beyond the grants outlined in this letter? If so, please
describe the planned awards, specific projects, and amounts.

Can you provide a ceiling on the total amount of federal funding that the Gateway
program could receive?

. What specific efforts will FRA and DOT undertake, including but not limited to
independent review, to confirm that Amtrak and other grantees involved in the Gateway
Program can deliver the projects on time, on budget, and in scope?

. Will you commit to updating the notices of funding opportunity for the Fed-State grant
program, as discussed in the April letter, to allow for maximum competition consistent
with the law?

. Will you commit to giving states outside the Northeast the opportunity to compete for
DOT-administered discretionary grant programs to the fullest extent consistent with the
law?

Thank you for your prompt attention to this matter.

Sincerely,
Ted Cruz “John Thune
United States Senator United States Senator
Rogglj F. Wicker Deb Fischer
United States Senator United States Senator



Warsha Blackburn /F ed Eudd

United States Senator United States Senator



